I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred when it found that Mr. Zaldivar Guillen's 

(hereinafter "Mr. Zaldivar") incriminating statements were 

admissible when he was not advised of his rights in Spanish prior 

to questioning. 

2. Mr. Zaldivar's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of 

counsel was violated when trial counsel failed to file a motion to 

suppress evidence obtained pursuant to Mr. Zaldivar's seizure on 

the ground that the seizure was unconstitutional. 

3. The trial court committed manifest error when it admitted 

incriminating statements and evidence obtained as a result of Mr. 

Zaldivar's unconstitutional seizure. 

4. The evidenced produced at trial was insufficient to sustain a 

conviction for commercial sexual abuse of a minor in violation of 

RCW 9.68A.IOO. 

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS 
OF ERROR 

I . Whether a Spanish-speaking defendant's incriminating statements 

to police officers are admissible at trial where the defendant was 

not advised of his Miranda rights in the Spanish language? 
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2. Whether trial counsel's failure to move to suppress incriminating 

statements and evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds 

constituted ineffective assistance of counsel where appellate 

precedent clearly indicated that the defendant's seizure was 

unconstitutional? 

3. Whether the trial court commits manifest error requiring reversal 

when it admits incriminating statements and evidence obtained as a 

result of a defendant's unconstitutional seizure where evidence in 

the record establishes that the seizure was unconstitutional in light 

of appellate precedent? 

4. Whether any reasonable trier of fact could find beyond a 

reasonable doubt that a defendant committed commercial sexual 

abuse of a minor where there was no evidence that the defendant 

offered to payor paid a fee to engage in sexual conduct with the 

alleged minor victim? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural History 

On September 25,2012, Appellant, Gildardo Zaldivar Guillen was 

charged with one count of commercial sexual abuse of a minor in violation 

ofRCW 9.68A.I00. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 1. On July 1,2013, the State 

issued an amended information, adding a second count of attempted 
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commercial sexual abuse of a minor to the original charge. CP 8. A pre

trial motions hearing was held on July 1, 2013. Record of Proceedings 

Part I ("RP I") 4. The court granted the State's CrR 3.5 motion to admit 

incriminating statements made by Mr. Zaldivar to police officers at the 

time of his arrest. RP 72. Mr. Zaldivar's trial attorney failed to file a CrR 

3.6 motion to suppress evidence, despite the existence of case law 

establishing that the facts in the possession of the arresting officers at the 

time they seized Mr. Zaldivar were insufficient to support an investigatory 

stop. RP 19. Mr. Zaldivar's trial commenced on July 2, 2013. RP II at 

15. On July 3, 2013, the jury found Mr. Zaldivar guilty on both counts. 

CP 113-14. On July 26, 2013, Mr. Zaldivar was sentenced to 21 months 

in prison on count one. CP 118. The court dismissed count two. CP 116. 

Mr. Zaldivar, through undersigned counsel, timely filed a notice of appeal 

on August 22, 2013. CP 128. Mr. Zaldivar has been released on bond 

pending appeal. 

B. Facts 

On August 3, 2012, at around 10:00 p.m., Detective Donyelle 

Frazier, Detective Joel Banks, and Sergeant Richard McMartin of the 

King County Sheriff's Office ("KCSO") were conducting surveillance in 

the 2330 Block of Pacific Highway South. RP II 28. One of the subjects 

of their surveillance was a young woman whom they later discovered was 
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Z.B. RP II 28-30. At the time the officers were surveilling Z.B. her 

identity was unknown to them. RP II 30, 36, 42. At some point after they 

began surveillance the officers observed Mr. Zaldivar pick up Z.B. from a 

bus station. RP II 30. When Mr. Zaldivar stopped at the bus station 

where Z.B. was standing, Z.B. got into his truck without any conversation 

or hesitation. RP II 35. At this point, the officers had not yet identified 

either Mr. Zaldivar or Z.B. See RP II 30, 36, 42. 

The officers followed Mr. Zaldivar and Z.B. to the parking lot of a 

nearby business, where Mr. Zaldivar parked his truck. RP II 36. After 

about three minutes, the officers approached Mr. Zaldivar's truck on foot, 

expecting to observe the two passengers engaged in sexual activity. RP II 

37. However, all they observed was Mr. Zaldivar and his passenger 

sitting inside the vehicle. RP II at 38. Despite the absence of observed 

suspicious activity, the officers made contact with Mr. Zaldivar and 

Detective Frazier ordered him out of his truck. RP II 38 - 39. Prior to 

contacting Mr. Zaldivar, the officers had not seen any sexual activity, 

touching, or exchange of money. See RP II 38. Nor had they heard any 

conversation between Mr. Zaldivar and Z.B. See id. Nor had they 

identified Z.B. See RP II 36, 42. After Mr. Zaldivar exited his truck, 

Detective Frazier noticed that Mr. Zaldivar had an erection inside his 

shorts. RP II 39. 
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Detective Frazier immediately recognized that Mr. Zaldivar spoke 

Spanish and was not a native English speaker. See RP II 54-55. 

Nonetheless, Detective Frazier failed to provide Mr. Zaldivar with 

Miranda! warnings in the Spanish language. RP II 52-55. Detective 

Frazier then proceeded to question Mr. Zaldivar. RP II 41. After 

realizing that he had previously arrested Z.B. for prostitution, Detective 

Frazier confronted Mr. Zaldivar with this information. RP II 42. Upon 

questioning, Mr. Zaldivar admitted that he knew that Z.B. was a 

prostitute, but told Detective Frazier that he had not offered her money for 

sex. RP II 45. Mr. Zaldivar further explained that the officers would find 

$10 in his ashtray, but that the money in the ashtray had not been offered 

in exchange for sex. RP II 112. Mr. Zaldivar was arrested on suspicion 

of commercial sexual abuse of a minor because, unbeknownst to Mr. 

Zaldivar, Z.B. was 17-and-a-halfyears old. RP II 57, 84. 

During trial, there was no evidence or testimony produced by the 

State tending to show that Mr. Zaldivar offered Z.B. money in exchange 

for sexual conduct. No witnesses testified that they had either seen or 

heard Mr. Zaldivar offer money to Z.B. for any reason. To the contrary, 

both Detective Frazier and Sergeant McMartin, who were present during 

! Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 
(1966). 
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Mr. Zaldivar's interrogation, testified that Mr. Zaldivar stated at the scene 

that he never offered Z.B. money in exchange for sex. RP II 44 - 45; 112 

- 13. Additionally, Z.B. testified at trial that Mr. Zaldivar never offered 

her money in exchange for sex. RP II 142. The State offered Z.B.'s prior 

inconsistent statements to police officers in an attempt to impeach Z.B.'s 

testimony regarding whether Mr. Zaldivar offered to pay her money in 

exchange for sex. RP II 141. But, a limiting instruction was issued by the 

trial court prohibiting the jury from considering Z.B.'s prior inconsistent 

statements as substantive evidence. RP III 31. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court Erred When It Admitted Mr. 
Zaldivar's Incriminating Statements Despite the 
Fact that Mr. Zaldivar was not Advised of his 
Miranda Rights in Spanish. 

While a trial court's findings of fact entered at a CrR 3.5 hearing 

are verities on appeal, the Court of Appeals "reviews de novo whether 

those findings support the trial court's conclusions of law." State v. 

Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 9 (1997). Further, under the constitutional error 

standard, prejudice is presumed, unless the State can show beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. See State 

v. Stephens, 93 Wn.2d 186, 190 - 91 (1980). 
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The Court of Appeals found that the incriminating statements that 

Mr. Zaldivar made to law enforcement officers at the scene and the 

evidence that was derived from those statements were admissible, 

notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Zaldivar was not advised of his 

constitutional rights in Spanish. RP I 72. This holding constitutes 

reversible error because a defendant whose primary language is not 

English must be advised of his rights in his native language before a valid 

waiver of constitutional rights can occur. 

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects a 

defendant's privilege against self-incrimination. Before statements made 

during a custodial interrogation can be admitted, the State must establish 

that a defendant was advised that: (1) he has the right to remain silent; 

(2) any statements made can be used against him at trial; (3) he has the 

right to have an attorney present during questioning; and (4) he has the 

right to have an attorney appointed to represent him at the state's 

expense. See Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444. A defendant who is not a native 

English speaker must be advised of his Miranda rights in his native 

language before a valid waiver of these rights can take effect. See State 

v. Teran, 71 Wn. App. 668, 672 (1993). Where a Miranda violation 

occurs, all incriminating statements obtained as a result of the violation 
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must be excluded from the criminal proceeding. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 

764 (1966). 

In Washington, a defendant who is taken into custody must be 

advised of his right to counsel "immediately" and "in words easily 

understood." CrR 3.1 (c)(1). If a defendant is not timely advised of his 

right to counsel subsequent to arrest, all evidence obtained after the arrest 

must be suppressed. See State v. Prok, 107 Wn.2d 153, 157 (1986). The 

Washington State Supreme Court has construed CrR 3.1 to require that a 

defendant who is not a native English-speaker be advised of his right to 

counsel in his native tongue. See id. at 156. The protections of CrR 3.1 

are broader than those of the Fifth Amendment, as a violation of CrR 3.1 

requires suppression of physical evidence as well as testimonial 

statements. See State v. Trevino, 127 Wn.2d 735, 746 (1995). 

The Washington State Supreme Court recently reaffirmed an 

individual's right to be advised of his constitutional and statutory rights 

in his native tongue. See State v. Morales, 173 Wn.2d 560 (2012). In 

that case, the Supreme Court acknowledged our State's policy of 

ensuring that people whose primary language is a language other than 

English receive equal protection in legal proceedings, and concluded that 

a defendant has a right to receive implied consent warnings under RCW 
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46.20.308 in his native language. Id. The Court quoted RCW 2.43.010, 

which provides: 

It is hereby declared to be the policy of this state to secure 
the rights, constitutional or otherwise of persons who, 
because of a non-English-Speaking cultural background, 
are unable to readily understand or communicate in the 
English language, and who consequently cannot be fully 
protected in legal proceedings unless qualified interpreters 
are available to assist them. 

RCW 2.43.010. 

In Mr. Zaldivar's case the incriminating statements that he made to 

Officer Frazier at the time of his arrest, as well as the incriminating 

evidence derived therefrom, should have been suppressed because Mr. 

Zaldivar was not advised of his Miranda rights in Spanish. See Teran, 71 

Wn. App. at 672; Prok, 107 Wn.2d at 157. Officer Frazier admitted on the 

record during Mr. Zaldivar's CrR 3.5 hearing that although he knew that 

Mr. Zaldivar was not a native English-speaker, he made absolutely no 

attempt to advise Mr. Zaldivar of his constitutional rights in the Spanish 

language. RP I 64. Detective Frazier did not even try to call the language 

line or contact a Spanish-speaking officer who could advise Mr. Zaldivar 

of his constitutional rights in Spanish, when both of these options were 

available. RP I 64. 

Because Mr. Zaldivar could not waive his Fifth Amendment rights 

without first being advised of his rights in Spanish, no valid waiver of Mr. 
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Zaldivar's Fifth Amendment rights occurred. See Teran, 71 Wn. App. at 

672. The trial court erred by admitting Mr. Zaldivar's incriminating 

statements and the evidence derived from those statements when Mr. 

Zaldivar was not advised of his constitutional rights in Spanish, and Mr. 

Zaldivar's conviction should therefore be reversed. See id; Prok, 107 

Wn.2d at 157. 

B. Mr. Zaldivar's Conviction Should be Reversed 
Because He was Denied Effective Assistance of 
Counsel in Violation of the Sixth Amendment. 

Mr. Zaldivar's conviction should be reversed because defense 

counsel failed to move to suppress incriminating statements and evidence 

obtained by law enforcement subsequent to Mr. Zaldivar's unlawful 

seizure despite the existence of case law establishing that Mr. Zaldivar's 

seizure violated the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution 

and Article I, Section 7, of the Washington Constitution. As noted above, 

questions of constitutional law are reviewed de novo. State v. Sieyes, 168 

Wn.2d 276,281 (2010). 

The Sixth Amendment protects a defendant's right to effective 

assistance of counsel. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel a 

defendant must satisfy the two-prong test established by the United States 

Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688, 687, 104 S. 

Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). See State v. Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d 
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163, 168 (2011). Specifically, the defendant must show that: (1) 

counsel's performance was so deficient that it fell below an objective 

standard of reasonableness and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced 

the defendant. Id. 

Failure to bring a plausible motion to suppress can constitute 

ineffective assistance of counsel. See State v. Rainey, 107 Wn. App. 129, 

135 (2001). The defendant must show that there were no "legitimate 

strategic or tactical reasons" for counsel's decision not to file the motion. 

Id. Additionally, to establish prejudice as a result of counsel's 

performance, the defendant must show that a motion to suppress would 

have likely been granted and that the outcome of the trial would have 

been different as a result. Id. In other words, the defendant must 

establish that there is a "reasonable probability that a motion to suppress 

would have been granted." State v. Klinger, 96 Wn. App. 619, 629 

(1999). 

In sum, in order for a defendant to establish that he or she received 

ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to failure to bring a plausible 

motion to suppress, the defendant must establish three things: 1) that there 

is a reasonable probability that a motion to suppress would have been 

granted; 2) that the outcome of the trial would have been different as a 

result of the suppression of the evidence in question; and 3) that there 

11 



were no legitimate strategic or tactical reasons for counsel's decision not 

to file the motion. As set forth below, Mr. Zaldivar satisfies this standard 

in this case. 

1. It is likely that a motion to suppress evidence obtained 
pursuant to Mr. Zaldivar's seizure would have been 
granted. 

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 

Article I, Section 7, of the Washington Constitution prohibit unreasonable 

searches and seizures. State v. Doughty, 170 Wn.2d 57, 61 (2010). A 

seizure occurs when, in light of all the circumstances, "a reasonable 

person would not feel free to leave." State v. Diluzio, 62 Wn. App. 585, 

590 (2011). An investigatory stop constitutes a seizure and must be 

supported by reasonable articulable suspicion that a crime is afoot. See 

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); 

State v. Tocki, 32 Wn. App. 457, 460 (1982). Reasonable articulable 

suspicion must be based on "specific and articulable facts which, taken 

together with rational inferences from those facts reasonably warrant [the] 

intrusion." ThrrY, 392 U.S. at 21. Articulable suspicion exists if there is 

"a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to 

occur." State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6 (1986). Evidence obtained as 

a result of an unconstitutional seizure must be suppressed. State v. Le, 

103 Wn. App. 354, 360-61 (2003). 
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In State v. Diluzio, a case with facts almost identical to Mr. 

Zaldivar's, this Court held that the arresting officer lacked reasonable 

articulable suspicion to stop the defendant, whom he suspected of 

patronizing a prostitute. See Diluzio, 162 Wn. App. at 593. In that case, 

the police officer observed the defendant's vehicle in an area known for 

high levels of prostitution at a time when all surrounding businesses were 

closed. See id. at 589. Subsequently, the police officer observed a 

woman get into the defendant's vehicle after conversing with him through 

his car window. Id. There were no bus stops around. Id. The arresting 

officer did not see any money change hands or hear the conversation 

between the suspected prostitute and the defendant. Id. The officer 

subsequently stopped the vehicle on suspicion that solicitation of 

prostitution was occurring. Id. On these facts, this Court concluded that 

the police officer lacked reasonable articulable suspicion to support an 

investigatory stop, notwithstanding the police "officer's 13 years of 

experience, the location of the stop, and the lack of open businesses or 

residences" in the area. Id. at 593. The evidence obtained as a result of 

the unlawful seizure was suppressed. Id. 

The facts of Mr. Zaldivar's case are practically indistinguishable 

from those in Diluzio. Officer Frazier and the other officers on the scene 

observed Mr. Zaldivar's vehicle in a place that was known as a high 
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prostitution area. RP II 26. Subsequently, they saw Z.B. get into Mr. 

Zaldivar's truck when he stopped at a bus stop. RP II 30. They followed 

Mr. Zaldivar and Z.B. to a parking lot, where Mr. Zaldivar parked. RP II 

36. The officers then approached Mr. Zaldivar's vehicle and saw two 

people simply sitting inside the vehicle. RP II 38. The officers did not 

see any money change hands or hear the conversation between Z.B. and 

Mr. Zaldivar. RP II 38. The officers did not see Mr. Zaldivar and Z.B. 

engaged in sexual conduct. RP II 38. Absent any articulable facts to 

indicate that a crime was taking place or about to take place, Officer 

Frazier initiated an investigatory stop of Mr. Zaldivar. RP II 39. Because 

there is nothing to distinguish Mr. Zaldivar's case from Diluzio, the 

officers "incomplete observations do not provide the basis for a ThrrY 

stop" in Mr. Zaldivar's case. Diluzio, 162 Wn. App. at 593. 

The State will likely attempt to distinguish Mr. Zaldivar's case 

from Diluzio, on the ground that Z.B. was a "known prostitute." See RP 

II 42. But Officer Frazier's testimony at trial indicated that the arresting 

officers did not recognize that Z.B. was a known prostitute until after the 

investigatory stop was initiated. RP II 30, 36, 42. And, an "investigatory 

stop must be justified at its inception." Diluzio, 162 Wn. App. at 590 

(citing State v. Gatewood, 163 Wn.2d 534, 539 (2008)). 
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Even if one of the officers on the scene had recognized Z.B. as a 

prostitute prior to initiating the investigatory stop, this fact would not lead 

to a different outcome in Mr. Zaldivar's case. This Court has made clear 

that associating with a person suspected of being involved in criminal 

activity is insufficient to establish reasonable articulable suspicion for an 

investigatory stop under Terry. State v. Richardson, 64 Wn. App. 693, 

697 (1992), is instructive on this point. In that case the arresting officer 

initiated an investigatory stop solely based on the fact the defendant was 

walking late at night, in a high crime area, with an individual suspected of 

drug smuggling. Id. at 697. This Court found that the arresting officer 

lacked reasonable suspicion to support a Th!!Y stop, holding: 

A person's presence in a high crime area does not, by itself, 
give rise to a reasonable suspicion to detain him. Nor does 
an individual's mere proximity to other's independently 
suspected of criminal activity justify an investigative stop; 
the suspicion must be individualized .... At the time of the 
seizure [the arresting officer] knew only that [the 
defendant] was in a high crime area, late at night, walking 
near someone the officer suspected of "running drugs." He 
had not heard any conversation between the men and had 
not seen any suspicious activity between them. [The stop] 
was an unreasonable seizure in violation of [the 
defendant's] constitutional rights. 

Id. (internal citations omitted). Surely, in light of Richardson, the mere 

fact that Mr. Zaldivar was observed sitting in his truck with a person 

known to be a prostitute could not distinguish his case from Diluzio. Just 

as in Richardson, the arresting officers in Mr. Zaldivar's case did not see 
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any SUSpICIOUS activity between Z.B. and Mr. Zaldivar or hear any 

conversation between them. See Richardson, 64 Wn. App. at 697. 

2. The outcome of the trial would have been different had 
the evidence obtained pursuant to Mr. Zaldivar's 
seizure been suppressed. 

Because virtually all of the evidence obtained by law enforcement 

in Mr. Zaldivar's case was obtained as a result of Mr. Zaldivar's unlawful

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