NO. 70808-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

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

Other officers overheard Frazier and Zaldivar's conversation.

Deputy Banks testified that the two seemed to be able to converse with one another and were speaking back and forth. 1RP 40, 44.

Banks also testified that Z.B. had indicated that she was able to

engage in conversation with Zaldivar and that Zaldivar was able to respond appropriately. 1RP 42-43.

No evidence admitted during the CrR 3.5 hearing or trial suggested that Zaldivar was unable to readily understand and communicate in English. Accordingly, the trial court made the following findings and conclusions:

What I do conclude, having heard the evidence, which included no evidence that the defendant did not understand, that in fact the rights were understood; that Mr. Zaldivar-Guillen acknowledged his Miranda rights; that he did not give any evidence that he did not understand them.

I determine that he did understand them, looking at the entire set of circumstances; that he waived those rights; that the waiver was voluntary, knowing and intelligent.

I don't need to determine whether he was in custody or being interrogated, given that he did receive his <u>Miranda</u> warnings.

I conclude that the statements are admissible and so they will be allowed at trial.

1RP 72. The court's findings are supported by the evidence and in turn support the conclusion that Zaldivar's waiver was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.

Zaldivar also suggests, for the first time on appeal, that his statements should have been suppressed under CrR 3.1(c)(1)4 and State v. Prok, 107 Wn.2d 153, 157, 727 P.2d 652 (1986), because "a defendant who is not a native English-speaker [must] be advised of his right to counsel in his native tongue." Brief of Appellant at 8. That argument is also without merit. Prok does not address whether police violate CrR 3.1/JCrR 2.11(c)(1)5 by failing to advise a non-native English-speaker of the right to counsel in his native language. In that case, the State conceded that a violation occurred when the arresting officer failed to ask the Cambodian suspect whether he understood written or spoken English before reading his Miranda and implied consent rights in English. Id. at 155, 156. The only issue was whether dismissal is the appropriate remedy for an admitted JCrR 2.11(c)(1)/CrR 3.1 violation. Id. at 155. The Prok Court held that suppression, not dismissal, was the appropriate remedy because there was credible untainted evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CrR 3.1(c)(1) provides, "When a person is taken into custody that person shall immediately be advised of the right to a lawyer. Such advice shall be made in words easily understood, and it shall be stated expressly that a person who is unable to pay a lawyer is entitled to have one provided without charge."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>Prok</u> interpreted former JCrR 2.11(c)(1), which has been rescinded and replaced with CrRLJ 3.1, which is identical to CrR 3.1. <u>See State v. Glessner</u>, 50 Wn. App. 397, 400, 748 P.2d 280 (1988).

gathered before the CrR 3.1 violation. <u>Id.</u> at 155-56. <u>Prok</u> provides no support for Zaldivar's argument.

Finally, Zaldivar cites State v. Morales, 173 Wn.2d 560, 269 P.3d 263 (2012), which he argues "recently reaffirmed an individual's right to be advised of his constitutional and statutory rights in his native tongue." Brief of Appellant at 8. Again, Zaldivar's reliance is misplaced. The issue in Morales was whether the defendant's blood test results were admissible in a DUI hit-andrun case where the State failed to prove that the defendant was advised of his right to have additional tests administered by someone of his own choosing ("308 warning"). 173 Wn.2d at 569. There, Morales ran a stop sign, collided with another vehicle, and did not stop until his car became inoperable. Id. at 563-64. A trooper arrested Morales for DUI and hit and run. <u>Id.</u> at 564. Although there was some language difficulty, the trooper gave the Miranda warnings in English and had no problem obtaining the information he needed for his investigation. Id. Morales was then transported to the hospital. Id. Once there, the trooper did not read Morales the mandatory 308 warning in English. Id. at 564-65. Instead, he recruited a hospital interpreter to read the Miranda rights and 308 warning to Morales in Spanish. Id. Because the

officer did not speak Spanish, however, he could not testify that the interpreter actually read the warning. <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 573-74. "All that [the officer] could say was that he asked the interpreter to read the 308 warning; he could not say that the interpreter did so." <a href="Id">Id</a>. The State thus failed to prove that the 308 warnings were given <a href="at all">at all</a>, and the court accordingly held that the blood test results were erroneously admitted. <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 576. In so holding, the court quoted a statute evidencing the legislature's intent to protect the rights of non-English speaking persons:

It is hereby declared to be the policy of this state to secure the rights, constitutional or otherwise, of persons who, because of a non-English-speaking cultural background, are *unable to readily understand or communicate in the English language*, and who consequently cannot be fully protected in legal proceedings unless qualified interpreters are available to assist them.

RCW 2.43.010 (emphasis added). Zaldivar also cites this language in his attempt to show some legal authority for his position. Neither <a href="Morales">Morales</a> nor RCW 2.43.010 is helpful here because it is undisputed that Zaldivar was readily able to understand and communicate in English.

Because the only evidence is that Zaldivar understood

English, the argument that he should have been advised of his

rights in his native language must fail. The trial court did not err by admitting the statements Zaldivar made following his knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver.

#### ZALDIVAR HAS NOT ESTABLISHED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Zaldivar next contends that his conviction should be reversed because his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to challenge the validity of the investigatory stop that led to his arrest. Because the record demonstrates that the officers had reasonable articulable suspicion that Zaldivar was engaged in or was about to engage in criminal activity, a motion to suppress would have been denied. Zaldivar's ineffective assistance of counsel claim therefore fails.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, an appellant must establish both deficient representation and resulting prejudice. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). He must overcome a strong presumption that counsel's performance was not deficient. State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 8, 162 P.2d 1122 (2007). When an ineffective assistance claim is based upon counsel's failure to move for suppression of

evidence, the appellant must show that the trial court likely would have granted the motion if made. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333-34; Nichols, 161 Wn.2d at 15. "[T]here is no ineffectiveness if a challenge to admissibility of evidence would have failed."

Nichols, 161 Wn.2d at 14-15.

Zaldivar argues that the trial court likely would have suppressed his incriminating statements if his counsel had challenged the investigatory stop, which he argues was not supported by reasonable suspicion. Based on evidence admitted before and during trial, he is mistaken.

Brief investigatory "<u>Terry</u>" stops are justified when an officer has specific and articulable facts that give rise to a reasonable suspicion that the person stopped has been, or is about to be, involved in a crime. <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 30-31, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); <u>State v. Acrey</u>, 148 Wn.2d 738, 746-47, 64 P.3d 594 (2003). A reasonable suspicion is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Had this challenge been raised before trial, this Court would confine its review to the record of the pretrial hearing. Because Zaldivar did not challenge the stop below, however, the State had no reason to elicit testimony on the basis for the officers' investigatory stop. The State must therefore rely to some degree on the officers' trial testimony. If this Court concludes that such reliance is inappropriate, it should conclude that the record is insufficient to determine whether a motion challenging the <u>Terry</u> stop would have been granted and thus, Zaldivar can make no affirmative showing of prejudice. <u>See McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 334 & n.2.

"substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur." State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). "The reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the inception of the stop." State v. Rowe, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 822 P.2d 290 (1991), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Bailey, 109 Wn. App. 1, 3, 34 P.3d 239 (2000). The totality of the circumstances includes factors such as the officer's training and experience, the location of the stop, the conduct of the person detained, the purpose of the stop, the amount of physical intrusion upon the suspect's liberty, and the length of time the suspect is detained. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 747.

The evidence establishes that Detective Frazier had reasonable suspicion that Zaldivar was, or was about to be, involved in a crime. First, the officers involved in this case have an unusual degree of experience and training in spotting prostitution. Frazier and his fellow officers are part of a Sea-Tac Special Emphasis Team (SET) focusing on prostitution along Pacific Highway South, a designated "Stay Out of Areas of Prostitution" ("SOAP") zone. 1RP 35, 49, 67-69, 96-98. Frazier and Deputy Banks both have special training in prostitution enforcement.

2RP 25, 67. In the five years preceding the trial in this case, Frazier had been involved in "over a thousand" prostitution-related arrests. 2RP 27. Over the course of his 19-year law enforcement career, Deputy Banks had been involved in "[t]housands" of prostitution-related contacts. 2RP 66, 70. Sergeant McMorris testified that the SET is so familiar with prostitution behavior that "we are now called upon as experts in the field of human trafficking[.]" 2RP 99-100.

Second, the SET members recognized Z.B. as a juvenile prostitute and observed behavior consistent with prostitution.

Deputy Banks testified that Z.B. was "a younger gal that we had had previous contact with as a prostitute." 1RP 37. The officers "were aware of her age," which was under 18. 1RP 31-32, 37;

2RP 84. The officers observed Z.B. for about ten minutes before Zaldivar picked her up. 2RP 34. Sergeant McMartin noticed that Z.B.'s conduct changed once a marked patrol car left the area.

2RP 103. She got up from the bus stop and "would stand out on the highway and walk past the traffic and make eye contact with the motorists[.]" 2RP 105. She did not stray too far away from the bus stop, which McMartin testified is "common with this type of situation[.]" 2RP 104. In addition to her behavior, which was

consistent with prostitution, Z.B. was wearing a "low-cut top, exposing cleavage." 2RP 29.

Third, Zaldivar's conduct was also consistent with patronizing a prostitute. Zaldivar pulled up right next to Z.B., who walked over and got into the truck within a few seconds. 2RP 30. He then drove up the highway and turned into a very dark parking lot between an abandoned tavern and a closed business. 2RP 107, 109. The SET officers knew that that particular location "is also a common area for Johns and prostitutes to go[.]" 2RP 80. Zaldivar parked the truck and turned off its lights. 1RP 37; 2RP 36, 80. No one exited the truck. 1RP 37.

The officers waited a few minutes to approach the car, but "in this case, because of her age, and we were aware of her age, we didn't wait very long[.]" 1RP 37. Detective Frazier approached on foot and asked Zaldivar to get out. 1RP 50. When Zaldivar complied, Frazier immediately noticed Zaldivar's erection. 1RP 52. At that point, Zaldivar was in custody and was advised of his <a href="Miranda">Miranda</a> rights. 1RP 51.

Zaldivar argues that this case is factually indistinguishable from State v. Diluzio, 162 Wn. App. 585, 254 P.3d 218 (2011), where a divided panel of Division Three held there was inadequate

justification for a <u>Terry</u> stop. There, an officer observed Diluzio stop his vehicle in the driving lane of a notorious Spokane prostitution area and briefly speak through the window to a woman, who then got into his passenger seat. <u>Id.</u> at 588-89. It was late at night, and there were no open businesses or residences in the area. <u>Id.</u> at 588-89, 593. The officer did not see money change hands, did not overhear any conversations, and neither individual was known to have been involved in prostitution or solicitation activities. <u>Id.</u> at 593. The officer nonetheless suspected that solicitation of prostitution was afoot and stopped the car, eventually seizing drugs from Diluzio. <u>Id.</u> at 588. Diluzio appealed from his conviction on two counts of possession of a controlled substance. <u>Id.</u> Division Three concluded that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Diluzio, and reversed his convictions. <u>Id.</u> at 593.

While there are similarities between this case and <u>Diluzio</u>, there are several important distinctions. First, at least one member of the SET knew that Z.B. was a prostitute. TRP 37. Second, unlike in <u>Diluzio</u>, the officers observed Z.B. engaging in conduct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Zaldivar points out that that Detective Frazier's trial testimony suggests that he did not recognize Z.B. as a known prostitute until after the investigatory stop was initiated. Brief of Appellant at 14. However, Deputy Banks testified that "we had had previous contact with [Z.B.] as a prostitute." 1RP 37. Had a challenge to reasonable suspicion been raised below, the State would have had an opportunity to more fully explore the officers' familiarity with Z.B..

consistent with prostitution. Third, unlike in <u>Diluzio</u>, the officers did not stop Zaldivar as soon as he picked Z.B. up. Rather, they followed until he parked his truck in a dark and secluded area known for prostitution activity, turned off the truck lights, and remained in the truck with Z.B.. Because the officers in this case had more evidence suggesting criminal activity than those in Diluzio, that case is inapposite.

Zaldivar also cites <u>State v. Richardson</u>, 64 Wn. App. 693, 825 P.2d 754 (1992), for the proposition that mere association with a person suspected of illegal activity is insufficient to establish reasonable suspicion for an investigatory stop. <u>Richardson</u> is unhelpful as well. In <u>Richardson</u>, the officer articulated no basis for stopping Richardson except for his presence in a high crime area and proximity to someone suspected of running drugs. <u>Id.</u> at 697. Like Richardson, Zaldivar was in a high crime area. Like Richardson, Zaldivar was with someone suspected of illegal activity. But unlike Richardson, Zaldivar did more than simply walk beside that person. Rather, he picked up a known prostitute and took her to a secluded location where prostitutes and their patrons frequent, then remained in a parked car with her. "The mere fact that Mr. Zaldivar was observed sitting in his truck with a person

known to be a prostitute" (Brief of Appellant at 15) may not be sufficient to raise a reasonable suspicion, but this fact combined with all of the other circumstances is more than adequate.

Given the totality of the circumstances, it is highly unlikely that the court would have granted a motion to suppress based upon an unlawful <u>Terry</u> stop. "[T]here is no ineffectiveness if a challenge to admissibility of evidence would have failed." <u>Nichols</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 14-15. Zaldivar's ineffective assistance claim must be rejected.

3. ZALDIVAR CANNOT ESTABLISH MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR JUSTIFYING REVIEW OF THE TERRY STOP ISSUE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

In addition to his ineffective assistance claim based on the failure to challenge the <u>Terry</u> stop, Zaldivar attempts to challenge the stop for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5. For the same reason that his ineffectiveness claim fails, the Court should reject this argument.

Under RAP 2.5(a), an appellant may raise a manifest error affecting a constitutional right for the first time on appeal. To establish manifest constitutional error, Zaldivar must show an error that implicates a constitutional interest and caused actual

prejudice; i.e., had practical and identifiable consequences at trial. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). "Where the alleged constitutional error arises from trial counsel's failure to move to suppress, the defendant 'must show the trial court likely would have granted the motion if made. It is not enough that the Defendant allege prejudice – actual prejudice must appear in the record." State v. Contreras, 92 Wn. App. 307, 312, 966 P.2d 915 (1998) (quoting McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 334).

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